73762-7

### 73762-7

#### FILED February 11, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 73762-7-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### MICHAEL MARKNSEN,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Dean Lum

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 tom@washapp.org

####

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT
1. The State failed to prove the essential prerequisite for the admission of Mr. Marknsen's prior convictions, thus the State provided insufficient evidence for the offenses mandating reversal
a. The State bears the burden of proving each of the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt
b. The stipulation failed to establish that the prior court orders were issued pursuant to the requirements of RCW 26.50.110(5)
c. Mr. Marknsen is entitled to reversal of his convictions with instructions to dismiss7
<ol> <li>This Court should order that no costs be awarded on appeal</li></ol>
a. Mr. Marknsen may seek an order from the Court ordering that no costs be awarded in his Brief of Appellant7
b. Alternatively, this Court must remand to the trial court for a hearing where the court must determine whether Mr. Marknsen has the current or future ability to pay10

F. CONCLUSION
---------------

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend XIV
FEDERAL CASES
<i>Apprendi v. New Jersey</i> , 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000)
Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978)
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970)3
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)
Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972)
WASHINGTON CASES
State v. Abd-Rahmaan, 154 Wn.2d 280, 111 P.3d 1157 (2005)10
State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015)8
State v. Case, 189 Wn.App. 422, 358 P.3d 432 (2015)4, 6
State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996)7
<i>State v. Miller</i> , 156 Wn.2d 23, 123 P.3d 827 (2005)4
<i>State v. Nolan</i> , 141 Wn.2d 620, 8 P.3d 300 (2000)
State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)4
<i>State v. Sinclair</i> , Wn.App (72102-0-I, January 27, 2016)8, 9

## 

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Michael Marknsen was convicted of violating two different no contact orders while having two prior convictions for violating court orders. The parties stipulated that Mr. Marknsen had two prior convictions for violating court orders. But, the State produced no evidence that the prior court orders were issued pursuant to the stated RCW chapters of RCW 26.50.110(5). Mr. Marknsen submits that this omission by the trial court requires reversal of his convictions with instructions to dismiss.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient proof presented that the prior court orders which Mr. Marknsen had been convicted of violating were issued pursuant to the requisite RCW chapters.

2. There was insufficient evidence presented to support the convictions.

#### C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Due process requires the State to prove all the essential elements of the offense. A necessary element of felony violation of a no contact order is that the defendant already has two prior convictions for violating a court order. In addition, there must be sufficient evidence for the trial court to conclude the two prior court orders were issued pursuant to the requisite RCW chapters stated in RCW 26.50.110. Where there was no evidence in the record for the trial court to make this determination, are Mr. Marknsen's convictions constitutionally deficient for a failure to provide the necessary proof?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Marknsen was charged with violating two separate court orders barring him from contacting his wife and with having two prior convictions for violating court orders.<sup>1</sup> CP 8-9. At trial, the parties stipulated that Mr. Marknsen had two prior convictions for violating court orders:

> The parties stipulate that the defendant had been twice previously convicted for violating the provisions of a court order prior to May 10, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In count 1, Mr. Marknsen was discovered by Department of Corrections' (DOC) employees in a motel room with his wife. In count 2, Mr. Marknsen was the driver of a car stopped by police in which his wife was a passenger.

CP 52. No evidence was presented that the prior court orders were

issued pursuant to the stated RCW chapters in RCW 26.50.110(5).

At the conclusion of the trial, Mr. Marknsen was found guilty as

charged. CP 73-74.

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. The State failed to prove the essential prerequisite for the admission of Mr. Marknsen's prior convictions, thus the State provided insufficient evidence for the offenses mandating reversal.
  - a. The State bears the burden of proving each of the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State is required to prove each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend XIV; *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 471, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The standard the reviewing court uses in analyzing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence is "[w]hether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). A challenge to the sufficiency of evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Here, the State was required to prove to the trial court that the prior convictions were for violating court orders issued pursuant to the specific RCW chapters listed in RCW 26.50.110(5).

# b. The stipulation failed to establish that the prior court orders were issued pursuant to the requirements of RCW 26.50.110(5).

Violation of a no contact order under chapter 10.99 RCW becomes a felony if the offender has at least two previous convictions for violating the provisions of an order issued under chapter 26.50, 7.90, 9.94A, 9A.46, 10.99, 26.09, 26.10, 26.26, or 74.34 RCW. RCW 26.50.110(5). The statutory authority for the issuance of the two prior court orders is not an essential element of the offense, which must be decided by the jury. *State v. Miller*, 156 Wn.2d 23, 24, 123 P.3d 827 (2005). But, the State must still submit to the *trial court* sufficient evidence to determine whether the orders that constituted the two prior convictions were issued pursuant to one of the relevant RCW chapters. *State v. Case*, 189 Wn.App. 422, 428-30, 358 P.3d 432 (2015). The decision in *Case* is indistinguishable from Mr. Marknsen's

matter. In Case, the defendant stipulated, as did Mr. Marknsen, that

The defendant has at least two prior convictions for violating the provisions of a protection order, restraining order, or no-contact order issued under Washington State Law.

Case, 189 Wn.App. at 425. This evidence was all the State produced; it

did not provide any evidence to the trial court that the two prior

convictions involved court orders issued under one of the stated RCW

chapters in RCW 26.50.110(5).

Division Two of this Court reversed the defendant's conviction,

finding that under its gatekeeping function, the trial court must still find

that the two prior convictions involved court orders issued pursuant to

the stated provisions in the statute:

Under *Miller*, the trial court determines as a question of law whether the predicate convictions supporting the charge of felony violation of an NCO involved orders issued under one of the RCW chapters listed in former RCW 26.50.110(5). 156 Wn.2d at 24, 31, 123 P.3d 827. This determination involves the trial court's exercise of its "gate-keeping function." *Id.* To enable the trial court to make this determination, the State must submit evidence to the trial court proving that the defendant's prior convictions were in fact for violating court orders issued under one of the specific RCW chapters listed in former RCW 26.50.110(5). *Miller*, 156 Wn.2d at 31, 123 P.3d 827. Only once the State produces such evidence can the trial court allow the State to submit evidence to the jury of a defendant's prior convictions for violating court orders. If no prior convictions are admissible, the defendant's charge for felony NCO violation must be dismissed. *Id*.

*Case*, 189 Wn.App. at 429. Since the State produced only the stipulation, there was insufficient evidence to allow the trial court to conduct its gate-keeping function. *Id.* Thus, there was insufficient evidence to support the defendant's conviction. *Id.* at 429-30.

Here, the facts mirror those in *Case*. The only evidence concerning Mr. Marknsen's two prior convictions was the stipulation. CP 51. There was no evidence produced to the trial court that the two prior court orders for which Mr. Marknsen was convicted of violating were issued pursuant to the stated RCW chapters in RCW 26.50.110(5). While the two current no contact orders which Mr. Marknsen was alleged to have violated were admitted, there was no evidence presented to the trial court that the prior orders were issued pursuant to the required RCW chapters in RCW 26.50.110(5). Accordingly, this Court must reverse Mr. Marknsen's convictions for violating the no contact orders. *Case*, 189 Wn.App. at 430.

## c. *Mr. Marknsen is entitled to reversal of his convictions with instructions to dismiss.*

Since there was insufficient evidence to support the convictions, this Court must reverse the conviction with instructions to dismiss. *Case*, 189 Wn.App. at 430 ("[w]e hold that there was insufficient evidence to support the felony violation of an NCO and dismissal is the appropriate remedy."). To do otherwise would violate double jeopardy. *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 760-61, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996) (the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution "forbids a second trial for the purpose of affording the prosecution another opportunity to supply evidence which it failed to muster in the first proceeding."), *quoting Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 9, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978).

# 2. This Court should order that no costs be awarded on appeal.

a. *Mr. Marknsen may seek an order from the Court ordering that no costs be awarded in his Brief of Appellant.* 

Should this Court reject Mr. Marknsen's argument on appeal, he asks that this Court to issue a ruling refusing to allow the State to seek any reimbursement for costs on appeal due to his continued indigency. Such as request is authorized under this Court's recent decision in *State*  *v. Sinclair*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.App. \_\_\_\_, slip op. at 10-12 (72102-0-I, January 27, 2016). (A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix).

The appellate courts may require a defendant to pay the costs of the appeal. RCW 10.73.160. While appellate court commissioners have no discretion in awarding costs where the State substantially prevails, the appellate courts may "direct otherwise." RAP 14.2; *Sinclair*, slip op. at 5, *quoting State v. Nolan*, 141 Wn.2d 620, 626, 8 P.3d 300 (2000). This discretion is not limited to "compelling circumstances." *Sinclair*, slip op. at 8, *quoting Nolan*, 141 Wn.2d at 628.

In *Sinclair*, the Court ruled it has an obligation to deny or approve a request for costs, and a request for the Court to consider the issue of appellate costs can be made when the issue is raised preemptively in the Brief of Appellant. Slip op. at 9-10. This Court must then engage in an "individualized inquiry." Slip op. at 12, *citing State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).

One factor this Court found persuasive in making its determination regarding costs on appeal in *Sinclair* was the trial court findings supporting its order of indigency for the purposes of the appeal pursuant to RAP 15.2. *Sinclair*, slip op. at 12-14. Here, the trial court entered the order of indigency and findings supporting its order. CP

8

Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub. No. 136. As in *Sinclair*, there is no evidence that Mr. Marknsen's financial situation will improve. Slip op. at 14

At the time of sentencing, Mr. Marknsen was 45 years of age. CP 88. Mr. Marknsen was sentenced to statutory maximum sentence of 60 months. CP 86. In light of the decision in *Sinclair*, given Mr. Marknsen's indigency and the fact he has felony convictions which can limit his ability to obtain gainful employment, "[t]here is no realistic possibility that he will be released from prison in a position to find gainful employment that will allow him to pay appellate costs." Slip op. at 14.

Because of his current and continued indigency and likelihood that he will remain so while in prison and once he is released, Mr. Marknsen asks this Court to order that the State should not be awarded costs on appeal. *Sinclair*, slip op. at 14. b. Alternatively, this Court must remand to the trial court for a hearing where the court must determine whether Mr. Marknsen has the current or future ability to pay.

Should this Court determine that it cannot make a finding

regarding ability to pay because the record is not complete, due process

requires this Court to remand to the trial court for a hearing to

determine Mr. Marknsen's present or future ability to pay these costs.

Any award of costs becomes part of the Judgment and Sentence,

thus amending that document. RCW 10.73.160(3) states that: "An

award of costs shall become part of the trial court judgment and

sentence." A defendant has due process rights where the State seeks to

modify or amend a Judgment and Sentence, including:

(a) written notice (b) disclosure of evidence against him or her; (c) an opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; (d) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the court specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation); (e) a "neutral and detached" hearing body; and (f) a written statement by the court as to the evidence relied on and reasons for the modification.

*State v. Abd-Rahmaan*, 154 Wn.2d 280, 286, 111 P.3d 1157 (2005),

citing Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 489, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33

L.Ed.2d 484 (1972).

Since adding any costs that might be requested by the State to Mr. Marknsen's Judgment and Sentence necessarily amends the judgment, due process requires that there be a hearing which complies with the dictates of *Abd-Rahmann* regarding his present or future ability to pay. As such, Mr. Marknsen requests that, in the absence of a finding by this Court regarding his ability to pay, this Court remand to the trial court for a hearing on his ability to pay.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Marknsen asks this Court to reverse his convictions with instructions to dismiss. Alternatively, Mr. Marknsen asks this Court to reverse the convictions and remand for a new trial. Finally, in the chance that the Court rejects Mr. Marknsen's arguments, he asks that this Court refuse to award costs on appeal.