A. CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in finding that the defendant "lacks

sufficient funds to prosecute an appeal and applicable law grants

defendant a right to review at public expense" in the absence of any

evidence regarding the defendant's then-current financial

circumstances.

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

D. ARGUMENT

1. MARKNSEN'S CONVICTIONS ARE SUPPORTED
BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

Marknsen concedes that the evidence submitted to the jury

was sufficient to support the jury's finding that all elements of the

charged crimes had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

However, he contends that the evidence contained in the record

was nevertheless insufficient to support his convictions because the

2 The 19 volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings are consecutively
paginated, and will be collectively referred to as "RP."

3 In addition to the stipulation regarding his prior convictions, Marknsen also
stipulated that he and Martinez-Gomez had a child in common. CP 51.

Z~
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State did not prove to the trial court the admissibility of the prior

convictions to which Marknsen stipulated. This claim should be

rejected. Not only did Marknsen both invite and waive the alleged

error, but by submitting a stipulation to the jury regarding his prior

convictions that contained all the information the jury needed to find

that element of the crime proven, Marknsen relieved the State of

any burden to prove the admissibility of the prior convictions. The

submission of the stipulation to the jury was thus proper, and the

evidence was sufficient to support the convictions.

a. Marknsen's Sufficiency Claim Fails In Light Of
His Failure To Assign Error To The Trial
Court's Acceptance Of His Stipulation And His
Implicit Concession That The Evidence
Admitted At Trial Was Sufficient To Support
The Jury's Verdict On The Essential Elements
Of The Charges.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to

the United States Constitution requires the State to prove every

element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In re

Winshi , 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368

(1970). When an appellant claims that there was insufficient

evidence to support his conviction, the reviewing court views the

evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from it in

the light most favorable to the State. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d

-5-
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192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Viewing the evidence in that light,

if any rational jury "could have found the essential elements of the

crime beyond a reasonable doubt," then the evidence is sufficient to

support the conviction. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616

P.2d 628 (1980).

RCW 26.50.110, the statute under which Marknsen was

convicted in the current case, states that violation of a court order

issued under RCW chapter 26.50, 10.99, 26.09, 26.10, 26.26, or

74.34 (or violation of a valid foreign protection order as defined by

RCW 26.50.020), which otherwise would be a gross misdemeanor,

is a class C felony if the offender has at least two previous

convictions for violating the provisions of an order issued under one

of the above-listed chapters. RCW 26.50.110(5); State v. Carmen,

118 Wn. App. 655, 656, 77 P.3d 368 (2003). However, the fact that

the prior convictions involved a violation of the correct type of court

order is not an essential element of the felony crime that the jury

must find, but rather a threshold issue of relevance, and thus

admissibility, for the court to decide. State v. Gray, 134 Wn. App.

547, 555-56, 138 P.3d 1123 (2006); Carmen, 118 Wn. App. at

663-64 (2003); see State v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 23, 30, 123 P.3d 827

(2005) (approving of Carmen's reasoning and holding, and
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concluding that the validity of the order defendant is charged with

violating is an analogous threshold issue of admissibility).

Marknsen concedes that the fact that the prior convictions

involved a violation of the type of order listed in RCW 26.50.110(5)

is not an essential element of the crimes of which he was

convicted, and does not assert that the evidence presented to the

jury was insufficient to support the jury's findings on the essential

elements, Brief of Appellant at 4. He also does not assign error to

the trial court's acceptance of his stipulation regarding his prior

convictions or the reading of the stipulation to the jury. Brief of

Appellant at 1. For those reasons, his sufficiency claim must fail.

See Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221 (sufficiency inquiry asks whether

evidence admitted at trial allowed a rational trier of fact to find "the

essential elements of the crime" beyond a reasonable doubt).

b. Even If This Court Were To Interpret
Marknsen's Brief As Assigning Error To The
Trial Court's Acceptance Of The Stipulation
Regarding The Prior Convictions, The Alleged
Error Was Invited, And The Claim Of Error
Was Waived.

Under the invited error doctrine, the appellate courts will not

review a party's assertion of an error to which the party "materially

contributed" at trial. In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129,

-7-
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147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995). This doctrine applies even to

constitutional errors such as judicial comments on the evidence

that, if manifest, would otherwise be reviewable for the first time on

appeal under RAP 2.5. State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 280, 985

P.2d 289 (1999). Courts apply the invited error doctrine strictly,

sometimes with harsh results. See, e.q., State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d

533, 546-47, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999) (holding doctrine prohibited

review of legally erroneous jury instruction because defendant

proposed it, even though it was standard WPIC at the time).

Marknsen implicitly complains that the jury should not have

been allowed to hear his stipulation until the State had submitted

evidence to the trial court regarding the admissibility of the prior

convictions. However, the record shows that Marknsen wanted the

stipulation to be submitted to the jury, and explicitly requested that

the written stipulation be provided to the jury during deliberations.

RP 6$7-88, 772; supp. CP _ (sub 105A at 16). He thus invited the

error of which he now complains.

Even if Marknsen had not invited the alleged error, he

waived it by failing to raise a timely objection. A defendant may not

challenge a trial court's ruling admitting evidence unless a timely

objection or motion to strike is made. ER 103(a)(1); RAP 2.5(a);
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State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 819, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

Accordingly, this Court has already determined that any challenge

to the admissibility of a prior conviction in a prosecution for felony

violation of a court order on the grounds that the prior conviction did

not involve a violation of the correct type of order is waived if an

objection is not made at the time the conviction is admitted. State

v. Gray, 134 Wn. App. 547, 557-58, 138 P.3d 1123 (2006).

Marknsen failed to challenge the admissibility of his prior

convictions or object to the submission of his stipulation to the jury

at any point during the trial court proceedings. RP 687-88 (no

objection when trial court announces that it will read stipulation to

the jury), 762-65 (no objection when trial court reads stipulation to

jury), 772 (defendant agrees that jury should be instructed that it

may consider the convictions addressed in stipulation for purposes

of determining whether elements of crime have been proved). He

may not now challenge it for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a);

See State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 482, 6 P.3d 1160

(2000) (admissibility of evidence may not be challenged for first

time on appeal).
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c. Marknsen's Stipulation Regarding His Prior
Convictions Relieved The State Of The
Obligation To Prove The Admissibility Of The
Prior Convictions.

Even if Marknsen had not invited or waived any alleged error

regarding the acceptance or reading of the stipulation by the trial

court without first requiring the State to prove the admissibility of

the prior convictions, such a claim of error would fail. This is

because Marknsen's stipulation relieved the State of any burden to

prove the admissibility of the convictions.

If the fact of a prior conviction proves an essential element of

the crime charged, the defendant has the right to stipulate to the

fact of the conviction and thereby prevent the State from offering

other proof of the conviction, which may contain prejudicial

information about the defendant. Old Chief v. United States, 519

U.S. 172, 174, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997); State v.

Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 62-63, 950 P.2d 981 (1998). A

stipulation is an "express waiver made in court or preparatory to

trial by the party or his attorney conceding for the purposes of the

trial the truth of some alleged fact, with the effect that one party

need offer no evidence to prove it and the other is not allowed to

disprove it." Key Design, Inc. v. Moser, 138 Wn.2d 875, 893-94,
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983 P.2d 653 (1999) (emphasis in original; internal quotations

marks omitted). Put another way, a stipulation to facts which prove

an element of the crime charged waives the right to a jury trial as to

that element as well as the right to require the State to prove that

element beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Humphries, 181

Wn.2d 708, 714-15, 336 P.3d 1121 (2014).

By stipulating to the fact that he had "twice previously been

convicted for violating the provisions of a court order," which was

the only fact the jury needed to find in order to satisfy the relevant

element of the charged crimes, Marknsen relieved the State of its

obligation to offer evidence to prove that fact. CP 52; Key Design,

138 Wn.2d at 893-94. Because the State had no obligation—and in

fact, no right—to offer extrinsic evidence of Marknsen's prior

convictions, the State had no obligation to establish the

admissibility of such extrinsic evidence. The trial court therefore did

not err in accepting the stipulation and reading it to the jury without

first requiring the State to prove the admissibility of the prior

convictions. The lack of information in the record regarding the

admissibility of those convictions thus has no effect on the propriety

or sufficiency of the evidence before the jury. Because the jury was

properly given evidence, including stipulations, that was sufficient to

-11-
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support its findings on the essential elements of the charges,

Marknsen's convictions should be affirmed.

d. State v. Case Was Incorrectly Decided And
Should Not Be Followed By This Court.

Marknsen's claim that the evidence was insufficient to

support his convictions rests entirely on Division Two's decision in

State v. Case, 189 Wn. App. 422, 358 P.3d 432 (2015), review

rq anted, 185 Wn.2d 1001 (2016).4 Marknsen is correct that Case

appears to be factually identical to this case (and countless others).

However, Case conflicts with this Court's decision in Gray and

ignores binding precedent from our Supreme Court regarding

stipulations and waivers of objections to the admissibility of

evidence. This Court should therefore decline to follow it.

In Case, Division Two agreed with this Court's decision in

Grav that, under Miller, the statutory authority for the orders the

defendant was previously convicted of violating is not an element of

the crime of felony violation of a court order. Case, 189 Wn. App.

at 427-28. The Case court held that in light of Case's stipulation

regarding his prior convictions (which was functionally identical to

the stipulation in this case), the State had presented sufficient

evidence to the jury to support the conviction. Id. at 425, 428. The

4 The supreme court will hear oral argument in Case on June 21, 2016.
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Case court also properly noted that, under Miller, whether the prior

convictions are qualifying predicate offenses is a question of law for

the trial court to decide as part of its "gate-keeping function." Id. at

429.

However, from that, the court concluded that the State must

in all cases submit sufficient evidence to the trial court that the prior

convictions involved violations of the correct type of order before

the trial court can "allow the State to submit evidence to the jury of

a defendant's prior convictions for violating court orders." Id. As in

this case, the prosecutor in Case had offered no evidence

regarding the prior convictions beyond the stipulation. Id. Division

Two concluded that "[a]Ithough the State proved to the jury all the

elements of the charge of felony violation of an NCO, it failed to

present evidence to satisfy the threshold determination that Case's

prior convictions were for violating court orders issued under one of

the specific RCW chapters listed in former RCW 26.50.110(5)," and

that therefore there was insufficient evidence to support the

conviction. Id. at 429-30.

The Case court's reasoning is flawed, and should not be

followed by this Court, because it fails to take into account several

important facts and principles, First, the Case court failed to

-13-
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grapple with the fact that Miller, in discussing the trial court's role in

assessing the admissibility of a prior conviction, never addressed

how a stipulation might change the need for the trial court to

exercise its "gate-keeping function." Id. at 429-30; Miller, 156

Wn.2d at 31. The Case court similarly did not consider the fact that

a defendant's stipulation to prior convictions relieves the State of

the burden to produce admissible evidence of those convictions.

Case, 189 Wn. App. at 429-30; Humphries, 181 Wn.2d at 714-15;

Ke rLDesign, 138 Wn.2d at 893-94. Finally, the Case court failed to

consider the fact that challenges to the admission of evidence are

waived if not raised promptly at the time the evidence is admitted.5

Case, 189 Wn. App. at 429-30; ER 103(a)(1); Finch, 137 Wn.2d

792, 819; Gra , 134 Wn. App. at 557-58.

Because Case fails to take these principles into account, this

Court should not follow it. This Court should instead follow binding

precedent regarding the effect of stipulations and the waiver of

objections to the admissibility of evidence, and affirm Marknsen's

convictions.

5 It appears that, in Case, the issue of waiver was not briefed by either party in
the Court of Appeals.
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2. THE IMPOSITION OF APPELLATE COSTS IS
APPROPRIATE IF THE STATE PREVAILS IN THIS
APPEAL.

Marknsen asks this Court to rule that, should the State

prevail on appeal, Marknsen cannot not be required to repay

appellate costs, on the grounds that he is currently indigent. This

claim should be rejected. Not only is there no evidence in the

record to support a finding that Marknsen is currently indigent, but it

is a defendant's future ability to pay costs, rather than his present

ability, that is most relevant in determining whether it would be

unconstitutional to require him to pay appellate costs. Because the

record contains no information from which this Court could

reasonably conclude that Marknsen has no likely future ability to

pay, and because the trial court's finding that Marknsen is indigent

is unsupported by any evidence in the record, this Court should not

forbid the imposition of appellate costs.

The State respectfully disagrees with this Court's approach

to costs on appeal set forth in State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380,

367 P.3d 612 (2016). A decision on the State's petition for review

of Sinclair is expected on May 31, 2016.

As in most cases, Marknsen's ability to pay was not litigated

in the trial court because it was not relevant to the issues at trial.

-15-
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As such, the record does not contain information about Marknsen's

financial status and the State did not have the right to obtain

information about Marknsen's financial situation.

Several weeks after sentencing, Marknsen obtained an

ex-pane Order of Indigency by presenting, off the record, a

proposed order containing a finding that "the defendant lacks

sufficient funds to prosecute an appeal." CP 92. It appears that

Marknsen did not provide the trial court with any supporting

declaration or documentation regarding his then-current financial

circumstances.6 Nevertheless, without acknowledging the lack of

evidence supporting the order's findings, an otherwise-uninvolved

judge signed the proposed order on the trial judge's behalf. CP

92-93.

A trial court's factual findings are erroneous if they are not

supported by "substantial evidence" in the record. In re Pers.

Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 679, 101 P.3d 1 (2004).

"Substantial evidence" exists "where there is a sufficient quantity of

evidence in the record to persuade afair-minded, rational person of

6 It is not just the appellate record that lacks information of the necessary
supporting documentation. Undersigned counsel combed through the superior
court's electronic court records (ECR) and found no evidence that any
documentation regarding Marknsen's finances was provided to the trial. court to
support the request for a finding of indigency on appeal.
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the truth of the finding." Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, there is absolutely no evidence in the record indicating that

Marknsen was constitutionally or statutorily indigent at the time the

Order of Indigency was signed. As such, the trial court's finding of

indigency was made in error, and cannot support a finding on

appeal that Marknsen has no current ability to contribute toward the

cost of his appeal.

Even if the trial court's finding of then-current indigency had

been supported by sufficient evidence, the trial court made no

findings regarding Marknsen's future ability to pay financial

obligations. CP 92-93. It is a defendant's future ability to pay,

rather than simply his current ability, that is most relevant in

determining whether the imposition of financial obligations is

appropriate. See State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241, 930 P.2d

1213 (1997) (indigence is a constitutional bar to the collection of

monetary assessments only if the defendant is unable to pay at the

time the government seeks to enforce collection of the

assessments). The record is devoid of any information that would

support a finding that the defendant is unlikely to have any future

ability to pay appellate costs.
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in contrast, the record contains evidence suggesting that

Marknsen is unlikely to be permanently indigent after release from

prison. Given that he was 44 years old at sentencing and received

a sentence of no more than five years in prison, Marknsen will have

a considerable portion of his working years ahead of him upon

release. CP 86, 88. While awaiting trial in this case, Marknsen had

sufficient resources to post a $100,000 bond. RP 996; supp. CP

(sub 9). Additionally, he indicated at sentencing that he owns a

home. RP 994-95, 998. And in March 2016, Marknsen filed

documentation in the trial court indicating that' he had the resources

to post a $125,000 appeal bond. Supp. CP _ (sub 146 at 2).

Because the record in this case contains no evidence from

which this Court could reasonably conclude that the defendant has

no present or future ability to pay appellate costs, and in fact

contains evidence to the contrary, any exercise of discretion by this

Court to prohibit an award of appellate costs in this case would be

unreasonable and arbitrary.

This Court should also reject Marknsen's claim that he has a

due process right to a full hearing in the trial court before appellate

costs can be awarded. Brief of Appellant at 10. Marknsen relies on

State v. Abd-Rahmaan, 154 Wn.2d 280, 111 P.3d 1157 (2005),
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which is in turn based on Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 92 S.

Ct. 2593, 2600-02, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972), for his claim that he is

entitled to a hearing, at which he asserts he must be permitted to

cross-examine the State's witnesses.

In Morrissey v. Brewer, the United States Supreme Court

held that due process requires that the defendant be given certain

procedural protections, such as the ability to cross-examine

adverse witnesses, at a parole revocation hearing. 408 U.S. 471,

92 S. Ct. 2593, 2600-02, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972). Abd-Rahmaan,

applied Morrissey to sentence modification hearings. 154 Wn.2d at

291.

However, the holdings of Morrissey and its progeny turn on

the fact that the hearings in question involved the potential

termination of the defendant's liberty. Etc. _., Morrissey v. Brewer,

408 U.S. at 482; State v. Danq, 178 Wn.2d 868, 883, 312 P.3d 30

(2013) (finding a limited right to cross-examination because, "[I]ike

parole, sentencing modification, and SSOSA revocation, the trial

court's revocation of an insanity acquittee's conditional release

implicates a conditional liberty dependent on the observance of

special terms and conditions."). The imposition of financial

obligations, including restitution, does not involve a loss of liberty.
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State v. Fambrough, 66 Wn. App. 223, 226-27, 831 P.2d 789

(1992); State v. Smith, 33 Wn. App. 791, 799, 658 P.2d 1250

(1983). The limited due process rights to a hearing and

confrontation enumerated in Morrissey therefore do not apply to the

imposition of appellate costs, and this Court should allow the

imposition of such costs without a further hearing.

E. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks

this Court to affirm Marknsen's convictions and allow the imposition

of appellate costs.